SUPREME COURT

**FILED**

**In the Supreme Court of the State of California**

MAY 28 2015

**THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF  
CALIFORNIA,**

**Plaintiff and Respondent,**

**v.**

**JUANITA VIDANA,**

**Defendant and Appellant.**

**Frank A. McGuire Clerk**

**Deputy**

Case No. S224546

Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G050399  
Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. RIF1105527  
The Honorable Edward D. Webster, Judge

**OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

KAMALA D. HARRIS  
Attorney General of California  
GERALD A. ENGLER  
Chief Assistant Attorney General  
JULIE L. GARLAND  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
STEVE OETTING  
Deputy Solicitor General  
LINDA GÁNDARA

## ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether a defendant may be convicted of both grand theft by larceny (Pen. Code, § 487, subd. (a)) and embezzlement (Pen. Code, § 503)<sup>1</sup> based on the same act.

## INTRODUCTION

Appellant stole more than \$50,000 from her employer over a period of several months. For this conduct, a jury convicted appellant of both grand theft by larceny and embezzlement. Because larceny and embezzlement are “different offenses” (or, in the alternative, “different statements of the same offense”), appellant’s dual convictions were proper under section 954.

Larceny and embezzlement have always been different offenses. When the American states adopted the British common law crime of larceny and the statutory crime of embezzlement, they maintained the firm historical distinctions between the two offenses. California was no exception. Both before and after the enactment of the Penal Code, the California criminal statutes, and this court’s interpretation of those statutes, have treated larceny and embezzlement as distinct crimes. Indeed, larceny and embezzlement have distinct elements, and neither offense is included in the other. The two offenses also reside in separate chapters of the Penal Code; and each chapter provides the statutory elements, defenses, and punishments for its respective offense. Also, while the punishments, enhancements, and statutes of limitations for larceny and embezzlement mostly overlap, there are times when they diverge.

Contrary to the Court of Appeal’s view, the Legislature’s 1927 Penal Code amendments, which grouped larceny and embezzlement (along with false pretenses) under the general umbrella of “theft,” did not “eliminate[]

---

<sup>1</sup> All further code references are to the Penal Code unless specified.

the distinctions between the various theft offenses.” (See slip opn. at p. 9.) Indeed, this court has repeatedly held the opposite: The amendments were part of a procedural overhaul of the Penal Code, designed to make criminal prosecution simpler; they did not alter the substantive nature of any crime. Applying this court’s well established precedent, larceny and embezzlement therefore retain their status as different offenses even after the amendments. Furthermore, the amendments should not be read as “literally excising the words ‘larceny’ and ‘embezzlement’ from the legislative dictionary,” as the Court of Appeal here held. (See slip opn. at p. 9.) Long after the amendments, the Legislature itself acknowledged the continued existence of, and distinctions between, the offenses of larceny and embezzlement; and, in addition, the Court of Appeal’s broad interpretation of the amendments would lead to absurd and legally incorrect results.

Because larceny and embezzlement are “different offenses” (or, in the alternative, “different statements of the same offense”) under section 954, appellant may sustain a conviction for each offense based on her single theft. This court therefore should reverse the Court of Appeal and reinstate appellant’s conviction for larceny.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

Appellant stole \$58,273.02 from her employer between June 2010 and May 2011. (Slip opn. at pp. 2–5.) She did so mainly by pocketing cash payments and never notifying the company that she had received them. (*Ibid.*) For this theft, she was charged with, and convicted of, one count of embezzlement (§ 503) and one count of grand theft by larceny (§§ 484, 487, subd. (a)). (Slip opn. at pp. 1–2.) The trial court suspended imposition of sentence and granted appellant 36 months’ formal probation with some jail time. (Slip opn. at p. 2.) In addition to the usual fines and fees, appellant was ordered to pay \$58,273.02 in victim restitution. (Slip opn. at p. 2.) She appealed. (Slip opn. at pp. 5–16.)

The Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment as modified in a partially published opinion. In the published portion of its opinion, the Court of Appeal held that larceny and embezzlement were merely two ways of committing a single offense (i.e., theft) and therefore could not be the basis of separate convictions for the same act. (Slip opn. at p. 11.) In so holding, the court parted ways with its sister division's opinion in *People v. Nazary* (2010) 191 Cal.App.4th 727, review denied Apr. 13, 2011, which held that larceny and embezzlement were different offenses under section 954. Because the Court of Appeal here concluded that larceny and embezzlement were not different offenses, and that appellant could not be convicted of both for a single act of theft, the court modified the judgment by striking appellant's larceny conviction. (Slip opn. at pp. 11, 17.) The court did not explain how or why it chose to strike the larceny conviction rather than the embezzlement conviction. (See *ibid.*)

In the unpublished portion of its opinion, the Court of Appeal rejected appellant's remaining challenges, which were allegations that insufficient evidence supported her two convictions; that the trial court abused its discretion in failing to reduce her charges to misdemeanors; and that the trial court abused its discretion in setting the restitution amount at \$58,273.02. (See slip opn. at pp. 11–17.)

Appellant petitioned this court to review the insufficiency-of-the-evidence and victim-restitution issues. Respondent petitioned this court to review the question of whether a defendant could sustain separate convictions for larceny and embezzlement based on the same act.

This court denied appellant's petition for review, and it granted respondent's.

## ARGUMENT

### I. APPELLANT'S SEPARATE CONVICTIONS FOR LARCENY AND EMBEZZLEMENT BASED ON THE SAME THEFT WERE PROPER BECAUSE LARCENY AND EMBEZZLEMENT ARE DIFFERENT OFFENSES

Section 954 permits multiple convictions based on the same act or indivisible course of conduct where that act or conduct constitutes more than one offense. Whether separate code provisions define more than one offense turns on whether the Legislature intended them to be different offenses. Here, the Legislature intended larceny and embezzlement to be different offenses. First, the Legislature's enactment of larceny and embezzlement in the Penal Code preserved the firm historical distinctions between those offenses. Second, larceny and embezzlement "differ in their necessary elements," and "neither offense is included within the other." (See *People v. Gonzalez* (2014) 60 Cal.4th 533, 539 (*Gonzalez*)). Third, larceny and embezzlement are "self-contained" in different sections and chapters of the Penal Code, with each "set[ting] forth all the elements of a crime" and "each prescrib[ing] a specific punishment," which are not always the same (see *ibid.*), and the two offenses have sometimes divergent enhancements and statutes of limitations. Fourth, and finally, the 1927 amendments to the Penal Code, which grouped related offenses under the umbrella of "theft," did not change the substantive differences between larceny and embezzlement. Accordingly, because larceny and embezzlement are different offenses, section 954 permits appellant's dual convictions for those offenses based on her single theft of \$58,273.02.



**A. Section 954 Permits Multiple Convictions Based on the Same Act or Indivisible Course of Conduct Where, Among Other Things, the Act or Conduct Constitutes More Than One Offense**

Section 954 provides that a defendant may be charged with and convicted of (1) “two or more different offenses connected together in their commission[.]”; (2) “different statements of the same offense”; or (3) “two or more different offenses of the same class of crimes or offenses[.]”

Applying section 954, this court has repeatedly affirmed the rule “that the same act can support multiple charges and multiple convictions.”

(*Gonzalez, supra*, 60 Cal.4th at p. 537; see also, e.g., *People v. Wyatt* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 694, 704 [involuntary manslaughter and assault on a child resulting in death for the same act of killing a child]; *People v. Duff* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 787, 792–793 [second degree murder and assault on a child resulting in death for single act of suffocating child]; *People v. Sanchez* (2001) 24 Cal.4th 983, 989–991 [murder and gross vehicular manslaughter]; *People v. Ortega* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 686, 693 (*Ortega*) [grand theft and carjacking for the single act of taking a car]; *People v. Pearson* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 354 (*Pearson*) [sodomy and lewd conduct for the same act of sodomy]; *People v. Beamon* (1973) 8 Cal.3d 625, 639–640 [kidnapping for the purpose of robbery and robbery]; *People v. Montoya* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1031, 1034 [carjacking and unlawful taking of a vehicle].) The only exception to the general rule permitting multiple convictions is where “one offense is necessarily included in the other.” (*People v. Benavides* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 69, 97, internal citation omitted; see also *People v. Reed* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1224, 1227 (*Reed*) [“[a] judicially created exception to the general rule permitting multiple conviction ‘prohibits multiple convictions based on necessarily included offenses.’ [Citation.]”].)

While a person may be convicted of more than one offense arising out of the same act or course of conduct, a person may be punished only once. (*Reed, supra*, 38 Cal.4th at p. 1226.) “Section 954,” at issue in this case, only “concerns the propriety of multiple convictions, not multiple punishments, which are governed by section 654.” (*Gonzalez, supra*, 60 Cal.4th at p. 537.) Thus, when “a single act constitutes more than one crime . . . , the person committing the act can be *convicted* of each of those crimes [under section 954], but [section] 654 prohibits *punishing* the person for more than one of them.” (*People v. Kramer* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 720, 722, italics original.) Notably, because a defendant is only punished once for a single act or course of conduct, he or she suffers no adverse effect from section 954’s permitting multiple convictions.<sup>2</sup>

**B. Whether Separate Code Provisions Describe More Than One Offense Turns on Whether the Legislature Intended Them to Be Different Offenses**

Consistent with section 954, a defendant may sustain multiple convictions for a single act or course of conduct where that act or course of conduct constitutes the commission of different offenses. Last year, this court in *Gonzalez* considered the meaning of “different offenses” in addressing the question of whether section 954 permitted a defendant to be convicted of both oral copulation of an unconscious person (§ 288a, subd. (f)) and oral copulation of an intoxicated person (§ 288a, subd. (i)) based on the same act. (*Gonzalez, supra*, 60 Cal.4th at p. 535.) The court explained that whether two Penal Code provisions described different offenses was a matter of legislative intent. (*Gonzalez, supra*, at p. 537.) Because the Legislature

---

<sup>2</sup> Appellant here was granted probation. As a result, no sentence was imposed on her (see slip opn. at p. 2), and there was therefore no double punishment issue. (See *People v. Wittig* (1984) 158 Cal.App.3d 124, 137 [where probation is granted there is no double punishment issue to address under section 654].)

intended the various subdivisions of section 288a to describe different offenses, this court concluded that section 954 permitted convictions for each of the various subdivisions based on the same act.

In reaching its conclusion that the section 288a subdivisions were different offenses, this court stressed that they were substantively distinct because they “differ[ed] in their necessary elements—an act of oral copulation may be committed with a person who is unconscious but not intoxicated, and also with a person who is intoxicated but not unconscious—and neither offense is included within the other.” (*Gonzalez, supra*, 60 Cal.4th at p. 539, citing *Blockburger v. United States* (1932) 284 U.S. 299, 304 [“where the same act or transaction constitutes a violation of two distinct statutory provisions, the test to be applied to determine whether there are two offenses or only one, is whether each provision requires proof of a fact which the other does not”].) The court further explained that the text and structure of the section 288a subdivisions showed that the Legislature intended them to be independent offenses. (*Gonzalez, supra*, 60 Cal.4th at p. 539.) The various subdivisions are “self-contained,” with each setting forth all the elements of the offense and specifying the punishment. (*Gonzalez, at p. 539.*) Although the punishments for the two subdivisions at issue in that case were the same (see § 288a, subs. (f) & (i)), the court noted that “[n]ot all of the[] punishments are the same” across the various section 288a subdivisions, which further indicated that each subdivision described a separate offense. (*Ibid.*)

Applying these same principles, larceny and embezzlement are different offenses within the meaning of section 954.

### **C. The Legislature Intended Larceny and Embezzlement to Be Different Offenses**

Larceny and embezzlement are different offenses. First, the Legislature’s enactment of larceny and embezzlement in the Penal Code

preserved the firm historical distinctions between those offenses. Second, larceny and embezzlement “differ in their necessary elements,” and “neither offense is included within the other.” (See *Gonzalez, supra*, 60 Cal.4th at p. 539.) Third, larceny and embezzlement are “self-contained” in different sections and chapters of the Penal Code, with each “set[ting] forth all the elements of a crime” and “each prescrib[ing] a specific punishment,” which are not always the same (see *ibid.*), and the two offenses have sometimes divergent enhancements and statutes of limitations. Fourth, and finally, the 1927 amendments to the Penal Code, which grouped related offenses under the umbrella of “theft,” did not change the substantive differences between larceny and embezzlement.

**1. Larceny and embezzlement are historically different offenses, and the Legislature preserved them as such in the Penal Code**

Larceny and embezzlement have always been different offenses. Our laws on larceny and embezzlement have their origins in early British law. (*People v. Williams* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 776, 781–786 (*Williams*)). Larceny was a crime at common law, and it was the only theft crime until the mid-to-late 18th century. (*Id.* at p. 782, citations omitted.) At that time, “subtle limitations on the common law crime of larceny spurred the British Parliament . . . to create the separate statutory offenses of theft by false pretenses and embezzlement.” (*Id.* at p. 784, citations omitted.) Accordingly, in 1757, the British Parliament enacted a statute prohibiting theft by false pretenses; in 1799, it enacted a statute prohibiting embezzlement. (*Ibid.*, citations omitted.) From its origin, embezzlement “was considered a statutory offense separate and distinct from the common law crime of larceny.” (*Ibid.*, citations omitted.)

“Britain’s 18th-century division of theft into the three separate crimes of larceny, false pretenses, and embezzlement made its way into the early

criminal laws of the American states.” (*Williams, supra*, 57 Cal.4th at p. 784.) In the original Crimes and Punishments Act of 1850, larceny and embezzlement were separately included in the Seventh Division (Offences Against Property) of the Statutes of California. (Stats. 1850, ch. 99, §§ 60–70, pp. 235–237.) Larceny was covered by section 60 (grand larceny) and section 61 (petit larceny); embezzlement was covered by section 66 (embezzlement by a public officer) and section 70 (embezzlement by clerks, apprentices, servants, or employees). (Stats. 1850, ch. 99, pp. 235–237.) In the case of embezzlement by a public officer, the punishment was a felony subject to up to 10 years’ imprisonment. (Stats. 1850, ch. 99, § 70, p. 237.) For other forms of embezzlement, the punishment was to match that of larceny, i.e., to be punished in “the manner prescribed by law for feloniously stealing property of the value of the articles . . . taken, embezzled, or converted.”<sup>3</sup> (Stats. 1850, ch. 99, § 66, p. 236.) In 1864, the crime of embezzlement was expanded to cover unlawful takings by an “[a]gent” from a “principal.” (Stats. 1863–1864, ch. 42, § 70, pp. 40–41.) Larceny and embezzlement as described in the Crimes and Punishments Act were considered distinct offenses. (See *People v. Belden* (1869) 37 Cal. 51, 53 [explaining the distinction between the two offenses].)

In 1872, California created the Penal Code. Given that larceny and embezzlement were different offenses, the drafters housed them separately in the Penal Code’s part 1, title 13, “Of Crimes Against Property”: “Larceny” resided in chapter 5, and “Embezzlement” resided in chapter 6. The two offenses still inhabit those respective locations today. “Larceny” was defined as “the felonious stealing, taking, carrying, leading, or driving

---

<sup>3</sup> For five years between 1851 and 1856, possible punishment also included “death” for grand larceny and “any number of lashes not exceeding fifty upon the bare back” for petit larceny. (Stats. 1851, ch. 95, §§ 2–3, pp. 406–407; Stats. 1856, ch. 139, §§ 7–8, p. 220.)

away the personal property of another.” (§ 484 (1872).)<sup>4</sup> “Embezzlement” was defined as “the fraudulent appropriation of property by a person to whom it has been [e]ntrusted.” (§ 503 (1872).) These separate definitions remain intact today. (See § 484, subd. (a) [larceny] & §§ 484, subd. (a) & 503 [embezzlement].) The punishment for each offense was contained, as it is today, in its respective chapter. (See §§ 489, 490 [larceny]; § 514 [embezzlement].) The punishments for the two offenses were mostly equivalent except that beginning in 1880, and continuing today, when “embezzlement . . . is of the public funds of the United States, or of this state, or of any county or municipality within this state,” the punishment was greater in two regards: the offense was an automatic felony,<sup>5</sup> and “the person so convicted [was] ineligible thereafter to any office of honor, trust, or profit in this state.” (§ 514 (from 1880 to present).)<sup>6</sup>

In case there was any doubt that larceny and embezzlement were adopted as different offenses in the Penal Code, the California Code

---

<sup>4</sup> This language was chosen over the language in the New York Penal Code because California’s “adjudications upon the statute were frequent and the definition had assumed certainty in the hands of the Courts.” (Code commrs., note foll., Ann. Pen. Code, § 484 (1st ed. 1872, Haymond & Burch, commrs. annotators) pp. 187–188 (hereafter Ann. Pen. Code (1872)) [noting that “[a]s defined in the New York Penal Code, Sec. 584, ‘larceny is the taking of personal property accomplished by fraud or stealth, or without color of right thereto, and with the intent to deprive another thereof’”].) In other words, California was codifying its well settled common law definition of larceny.

<sup>5</sup> In 1880, it was punishable with imprisonment up to ten years. (See § 514 (1880).)

<sup>6</sup> This punishment has constitutional origins. (See Cal. Const. of 1849, art. IV, § 22 [“No person who shall be convicted of the embezzlement, or defalcation of the public funds of this State, shall ever be eligible to any office of honor, trust, or profit under this State; and the Legislature shall, as soon as practicable, pass a law providing for the punishment of such embezzlement, or defalcation, as a felony”].)

Commission said so explicitly. In its notes to the first edition of the Penal Code, the California Code Commission described larceny and embezzlement as “different offenses.” (Ann. Pen. Code (1872), § 484, p. 188.) In its note on embezzlement, the Commission took care to explain that “[t]his offense, in its commission and its punishment, is intimately connected to larceny.” (*Id.* at § 503, p. 196.) Nonetheless, larceny and embezzlement are “different offenses,” and they—along with other crimes affecting property—“require to be somewhat carefully distinguished.” (*Id.* at § 484, p. 188, emphasis added.) Because the California Code Commission’s versions of larceny and embezzlement were adopted by the Legislature, and because the definitions of larceny and embezzlement remain the same today, “the report of the commission is entitled to great weight in construing the statute and in determining the intent of the Legislature.” (See *People v. Mendoza* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 896, 909, quoting *People v. Wiley* (1976) 18 Cal.3d 162, 171.)

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