# SUPREME COURT FILED

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA DEC 1 4 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

No. S224546

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JUANITA VIDANA,

Defendant and Appellant.

Four Appellate District, Division Three, No. G050399 Riverside County Superior Court, No. RIF1105527 The Honorable Edward D. Webster, Judge

# ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Valerie G. Wass Attorney at Law State Bar No. 100445 vgwassatty@gmail.com 556 S. Fair Oaks Ave., Suite 9 Pasadena, CA 91105 (626) 797-1099

Counsel for Appellant Juanita Vidana By Appointment of the California Supreme Court

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

articulated that in 1927 the formerly distinct offenses of embezzlement, larceny, and theft by false pretenses were consolidated into the "single crime of 'theft' defined by section 484." (*People v. Davis* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 301, 304.) Since larceny and embezzlement are merely two different ways to commit the single offense of theft they do not constitute "different offenses" within the meaning of section 954, and dual theft convictions for larceny and embezzlement are prohibited when they are based on the same act or course of conduct.

- B. Section 484, Subdivision (a), Proscribes Only a Single Offense of Theft While Enumerating Different Ways to Commit the Offense
  - 1. The Legislature's 1927 Enactment of Section 490a and Amendments to Sections 484 and 952 Are Explicit Indications of Its Intent to Consolidate the Various Types of Theft Into a Single Consolidated Theft Offense

In *People v. Gonzalez, supra*, 60 Cal.4th 533, this Court explained how a reviewing court determines whether the Legislature, by enacting separate statutory provisions, intended to define separate offenses or merely describe different ways the same offense can be committed:

In addressing this question [whether" [w]e begin by examining the statute's words, giving them a plain and commonsense meaning. [Citation.] We do not, however, consider the statutory language "in isolation." [Citation.] Rather, we look to "the entire substance of the statute ... in order to determine the scope and purpose of the provision ....

[Citation.]" [Citation.] That is, we construe the words in question "in context, keeping in mind the nature and obvious purpose of the statute .....' [Citation.]" [Citation.] We must harmonize "the various parts of a statutory enactment ... by considering the particular clause or section in the context of the statutory framework as a whole."" (People v. Acosta (2002) 29 Cal.4th 105, 112 [124 Cal.Rptr.2d 435, 52 P.3d 624].) "If, however, the statutory language is susceptible of more than one reasonable construction, we can look to legislative history in aid of ascertaining legislative intent." (People v. Robles (2000) 23 Cal.4th 1106, 1111 [99 Cal.Rptr. 2d 120, 5 P.3d 176].)

(60 Cal.4th at pp. 537-538.)

Section 484 was enacted in 1872, and it originally stated, "Larceny is the felonious stealing, taking, carrying, leading, or driving away the personal property of another." In 1872 the Legislature also enacted section 503, which defines embezzlement as "the fraudulent appropriation of property by a person to whom it has been intrusted."

The California Legislature amended section 484 in 1927, thereby consolidating the previously distinct crimes of larceny, embezzlement, and theft by false pretenses into a single offense of theft. (*People v. Williams* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 776, 785; *People v. Davis, supra*, 19 Cal.4th at p. 304; *People v. Cuellar* (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 833, 837.) Subdivision (a) of section 484, which defines the offense of theft, is substantially similar to the 1927 amendment to section 484. Presently it provides in part:

Every person who shall feloniously steal, take, carry, lead, or drive away the personal property of another, or who shall fraudulently appropriate property which has been

entrusted to him or her, or who shall knowingly and designedly, by any false or fraudulent representation or pretense, defraud any other person of money, labor or real or personal property, or who causes or procures others to report falsely of his or her wealth or mercantile character and by thus imposing upon any person, obtains credit and thereby fraudulently gets or obtains possession of money, or property or obtains the labor or service of another, is guilty of theft.<sup>2</sup>

As amended section 484 includes embezzlement, evidenced by the fact it includes the following language that is very similar to that in section 503: "Every person... who shall fraudulently appropriate property which has been entrusted to him or her, ... is guilty of theft."

At the same time section 484 was amended the Legislature also enacted section 490a, in order "to further clarify its intent to bring all of the theft crimes under one umbrella." (*People v. Sanders* (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 1403, 1416.) Section 490a provides, "Wherever any law or statute of this state refers to or mentions larceny, embezzlement, or stealing, said law or statute shall hereafter be read and interpreted as if the word 'theft' were substituted therefor."

In 1927 the Legislature also amended section 952, which added the provision, "in charging theft it shall be sufficient to allege that the defendant

おいていて できる 大学 はいかい かいかい

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Section 484 has been amended numerous times. (Stats. 1927, ch. 619, § 1; Stats. 1935, ch. 802, § 1; Stats. 1965, ch. 1602, § 1; Stats. 1967, ch. 1335, § 1; Stats. 1980, ch. 1090, § 1; Stats. 2000, ch. 176, § 1.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Stats, 1927, ch. 619, § 7.

unlawfully took the property of another."4 (Stats. 1927, ch. 612, § 1.)

In *People v. Myers* (1929) 206 Cal. 480, this Court explained the legislative intent behind the 1927 amendments:

The amendment to section 484, in connection with the other cognate legislation such as the amendments to sections 951 and 952 of the Penal Code (Stats. 1927, p. 1043), is designed not only to simplify procedure but also to relieve the courts from difficult questions arising from the contention that the evidence shows the commission of some other of these crimes than the one alleged in the indictment or information, a contention upon which defendants may escape just conviction solely because of the border line distinction existing between these various [theft] crimes.

(206 Cal. at p. 484, footnotes omitted.)

The purpose of consolidating the theft crimes in 1927 was to simplify pleading and proof technicalities in theft offenses and "also to relieve the courts of the necessity of drawing fine distinctions as to whether the particular crime charged had been proved, and the prosecution of charging in advance, at its peril, an offense which the evidence, because of such fine distinctions, might show not to exist, although the guilt of the defendant be manifest."

(People v. Fewkes (1931) 214 Cal. 142, 149.) The crime of theft can now simply be alleged as an "unlawful taking," and juries no longer need to be concerned about "the technical differences between the several types of theft,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Section 952 was last amended in 1929, and it states in part, "In charging theft it shall be sufficient to allege that the defendant unlawfully took the labor or property of another." (Stats. 1929, ch. 159, § 1.)

and can return a general verdict of guilty if they find that an 'unlawful taking' has been proved." (*People v. Ashley* (1954) 42 Cal.2d 246, 259.)

Despite the clear legislative intent to consolidate the previously distinct theft offenses, respondent contends that the Legislature intended larceny and embezzlement to remain separate offenses following the 1927 statutory amendments. It points to the following in support of its position: the enactment of the larceny and embezzlement statutes in the Penal Code preserved the historical distinctions between the two offenses; larceny and embezzlement have different elements and neither is an included offense in the other; the larceny and embezzlement statutes are "self-contained" in different chapters and sections of the Penal Code and sometimes have divergent punishments and statutes of limitations; and, the 1927 statutory amendments which grouped the distinct offenses "under an umbrella of 'theft'" did not convert them into a single theft offense. (OBM 7-29.) For the reasons discussed below, respondent's position lacks merit.

2. The Fact That Larceny and Embezzlement Have Different Elements and Neither Is Necessarily Included in the Other Does Not Render Them Separate Offenses

Relying on *People v. Gonzalez, supra*, 60 Cal.4th 533, respondent asserts that larceny and embezzlement constitute separate offenses because they have different elements and neither is included within the other. (OBM

13.) In *Gonzalez*, this Court addressed the question of whether a defendant can be convicted of oral copulation of an unconscious person (§ 288a, subd. (f)), and oral copulation of an intoxicated person (§ 288a, subd. (i)), when each is based on the same act. (60 Cal.4th at p. 535.) Although this Court observed that each of the subdivisions of the statute had different elements and were not included offenses of the other, it did not hold that those factors alone mandate a finding of separate offenses. (*Id.* at p. 539.) In finding that the various subdivisions of section 288a constitute separate offenses, this Court looked at the text and structure of the statute. It explained:

Subdivision (a) of section 288a defines what conduct constitutes the act of oral copulation. Thereafter, subdivisions (b) through (k) define various ways the act may be criminal. Each subdivision sets forth all the elements of a crime, and each prescribes a specific punishment. Not all of these punishments are the same. That each subdivision of section 288a was drafted to be self-contained supports the view that each describes an independent offense, and therefore section 954 is no impediment to a defendant's conviction under more than one such subdivision for a single act.

(60 Cal.4th at p. 539.)

In *Blockburger v. United States* (1932) 284 U.S. 299, 304 [76 L.Ed. 306, 52 S.Ct. 180] ("*Blockburger*"), the United States Supreme Court addressed the issue of whether selling drugs without their original packaging (26 U.S.C.S. § 692) and selling drugs without a written order (26 U.S.C.S. § 696) constituted separate offenses when based on the same act or transaction. (284 U.S. at pp. 300-301.) It found the applicable test to be "whether each

provision requires proof of a fact which the other does not." (*Id.* at p. 304.)

The court held that because each statute required proof of a different element,
the defendant had committed two offenses. (*Ibid.*)

Unlike the statutes in question in *Gonzalez* and *Blockburger*, section 484 includes larceny and embezzlement in the *same* subdivision, which describes a single offense of theft. And as discussed in Section B-1, *ante*, the 1927 amendments to sections 484 and 952 and the enactment of section 490a are clear indications that the Legislature intended to consolidate larceny, embezzlement, and theft by false pretenses into a single theft offense.

The mere fact that larceny and embezzlement differ in their elements and neither is necessarily included within the other does not render them separate offenses because, as noted by the Court of Appeal, "an offense that can be committed in multiple ways will naturally have varying elements." (Slip opn. p. 10, compare with *People v. Nazary* (2010) 191 Cal.App.4th 727, 742 [larceny and embezzlement are separate offenses because they have different intents and elements].) This conclusion is also supported by case law.

In People v. Craig (1941) 17 Cal.2d 453, 455, this Court explained that under section 261, "but one punishable offense of rape results from a single act of intercourse, although that act may be accomplished under more than one of the conditions or circumstances specified in the foregoing subdivisions."

Two and a half years later this Court reiterated that when rape is accomplished under more than one of the circumstances set forth in the various subdivisions of the statute, there is only one punishable rape offense. (*People v. Scott* (1944) 24 Cal.2d 774, 777.) Subsequently in *People v. Collins* (1960) 54 Cal.2d 57, 59, this Court again noted, "The subdivisions of section 261 do not state different offenses but merely define the different circumstances under which an act of intercourse constitutes the crime of rape."

In People v. Ryan (2006) 138 Cal.App.4th 360, the defendant was convicted of violating section 470, subdivision (a), and section 470, subdivision (d), for her act of signing another person's name to a check and using it to make a purchase at a store. She was also convicted of violating subdivisions (a) and (d) of section 470 for signing the same person's name to a check and attempting to use it at another store. (Id. at pp. 363-364.) The Court of Appeal held that "the various subdivisions of section 470 do not set out greater and lesser included offenses, but different ways of committing a single offense, i.e., forgery." (Id. at p. 364.) Similarly in People v. Zanoletti (2009) 173 Cal.App.4th 547, 556, the court found that section 550. subdivision (a), which proscribes insurance fraud, "includes nine enumerated acts that constitute violations," and it held that the various paragraphs of subdivision (a) "simply describe different means of committing the single crime of insurance fraud." (Id. at p. 556, fn. 3.)

Contrary to respondent's assertion, merely because embezzlement and larceny have different elements and neither is included within the other does not render them separate offenses. As the Court of Appeal aptly noted, "Statutory construction cannot consist in merely counting elements." (Slip opn. p. 10.) The fact that both embezzlement and larceny are included in section 484, subdivision (a), and the Legislature clearly expressed its intent to consolidate them into a single theft offense, leads to the inescapable conclusion that embezzlement and larceny are merely different ways to commit a theft, rather than separate and distinct offenses.

3. Larceny and Embezzlement Are Not "Self-Contained" In Different Chapters of the Penal Code Because the Section 484 Theft Offense Includes Both Larceny and Embezzlement and The Punishment and Statute of Limitations for Each is Substantially the Same

Respondent contends that the larceny and embezzlement statutory provisions which include their respective elements, defenses, and punishments, are "self-contained" in different chapters and sections of the Penal Code and combined with the fact they sometimes have "divergent punishments, enhancements and statutes of limitations," illustrates "that the Legislature has established and maintained them as different offenses." (OBM 14-19.) It asserts that because "larceny and embezzlement occupy different

sections — and, in fact, entirely different chapters — of the Penal Code," the intent of the Legislature to treat them as separate offenses is even more clear than in *People v. Gonzalez, supra*, 60 Cal.4th 533, because the statutory provisions in *Gonzalez* were contained in different subdivisions of the same statute. (OBM 15.) This portion of respondent's argument fails because it does not recognize that in 1927 the previously distinct offenses of larceny, embezzlement, and theft by false pretenses were consolidated into section 484 and thereby merged into a single theft offense. (*People v. Williams, supra*, 57 Cal.4th at p. 785.)

When the California Penal Code was created in 1872, larceny and embezzlement statutes were contained in separate chapters of Part 1, Title 13 "Of Crimes Against Property." Chapter 5 contained the larceny statutes and the embezzlement statutes were placed in Chapter 6. Although Chapters 5 and 6 continue to have their original titles, since 1927 embezzlement has also been included Chapter 5. Respondent's assertion that the larceny and embezzlement statutes are "self-contained" in separate chapters is therefore disingenuous.

Embezzlement is defined in section 503, which was enacted in 1872 and has never been amended. As discussed in Section B-1, *ante*, in 1927 the Legislature created a consolidated theft offense and the section 503 definition of embezzlement was added to section 484. Today section 484, subdivision

(a), sets forth the elements of the crime of theft. It states in pertinent part, "Every person who shall feloniously steal, take, carry, lead, or drive away the personal property of another, or who shall fraudulently appropriate property which has been entrusted to him or her, . . . , is guilty of theft." (Italics added.) Even though the elements of embezzlement are still found in Part 1, Title 13, Chapter 6 of the Penal Code, they are also included in Chapter 5 of Title 13. As noted by the court in *People v. Artis* (1993) 20 Cal.App.4th 1024:

[T]here are no conflicts between the elements to prove, or the punishment for, embezzlement under section 484 and embezzlement defined in section 507. Each is punished "in the manner prescribed for theft of property of the value or kind embezzled." (§ 514.)

(20 Cal.App.4th at p. 1027.)

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